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PROFILE
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China Precious Metal Resouroes Holdings Co., Ltd.
PHECBEERIERAER AR (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (Collectlvely the “Group”) were
established in 1999.

The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company have
been listed on the main board (the “Main Board”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 12 October 2004 (Stock
code: 1194).

The Group is a leading and the largest non-State-
owned Chinese gold mining company in the PRC in
terms of production volume in 2012 with a particular
focus on the central and western regions of the PRC.
The Group currently owns five operating gold mines
located in the central, western and northern regions
of the PRC, namely Jinxing Mine and Luanling Mine
in Henan Province, Mojiang Mine and Hengyi Mine
in Yunnan Province, and Yongfeng Mine in Inner
Mongolia, with total gold resources of approximately
7.5 million ounces and total gold reserves of
approximately 1.7 million ounces. The Group
produced 87,572 ounces and 124,114 ounces of
gold for the years ended 31 December 2011 and
2012, respectively.

Jinxing Gold Mine in Henan

Jinxing Mine is currently our largest mine in terms of
both total gold resources and production volume.
Jinxing Mine is located in Luanchuan County,
Henan Province. It is approximately 6 kilometres
from the regional town of Baitu and approximately
110 kilometres southwest of Luoyang City, Henan
Province. It has gold resources of 2.64 million ounces
with average grade of 4.6g/t.
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Exploration activities first took place in 1956 and
production commenced in 1982.

Jinxing MIne consists of four mining areas, namely
Xingshuya mining area, Xingxingyin mining area,
Moshigou mining area and Xiaonangou-Houmusi
mining area. Aggregate mining area under the mining
license is approximately 22.2 km®.

Jinxing Mine is located at the junction between the
southern margin of the Qinling complex structural
zone and the Xinhuaxia Taihang uplift zone. Jinxing
Mine is a polymetallic mine. The majority of the
mineralisation is contained within fresh rock due to
the limited weathering profile in the region. Two styles
of mineralisation are identified, namely pyrite bearing
that contains silver, lead and copper in addition to
the gold mineralisation, and lead/gold bearing that is
composed of lead and gold mineralisation with minor
silver. Mineralisation occurs within quartz veins which
are located within fracture zones to form stock work
style deposits. Ten vein groups have been identified
within the mining area.

Primary
Jaw Crusher
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Luanling Gold Mine in Henan

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County,
Henan Province. It is approximately 40 kilometres
from Jinxing Mine. It has gold resources of 2.1 million
ounces with average grade of 3.2g/t.

Exploration activities first took place in the 1950s and
production commenced in 1989.

Luanling Mine consists of two mining areas with
different characteristics of mineralisation, namely the
Northern mining area and the Southern mining area.
Aggregate mining area under the mining license is
approximately 9.0 km?.

Luanling Mine is located at the junction between
the southern margin of the Qinling complex
structural zone and the Xinhuaxia Taihang uplift
zone. Mineralised zones in two mining areas are
defined. The major gold zones include nine veins.
The mineralised material is dominated by pyrite,
secondarily marcasite, with small amount of galena
and altaite (lead minerals). The major gangue minerals
include quartz, albite, sericite and chlorite. The gold
minerals include electrum, with a little calaverite and
petzite.
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Mojiang Gold Mine in Yunnan

Mojiang Mine is located in Pu’er City, Yunnan
Province. It is approximately 300 kilometres
southwest of Kunming City, Yunnan Province. It has
gold resources of 0.5 million ounces with average
grade of 2.0g/t.

Exploration activities first took place in 1945 and
production commenced in 1976.

Mojiang Mine is located in the Ailaoshan Fold Belt of
the San Jiang Metamorphic Fold System.

Mojiang Mine holds one mining license covering an
area of approximately 7.2 km?®.

Apart from gold deposit in Mojiang Mine, there is
also rich nickel metal. The nickel ore bodies occur
parallel to the gold ore bodies and belong to a typical
hydrothermal type that are mainly sulfides.
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Hengyi Mine in Yunnan

Hengyi Mine is located in Zhenyuan County,
Yunnan Province. It is approximately 380 kilometres
southwest of Kunming City, Yunnan Province. It has
gold resources of 1.7 million ounces with average
grade of 2.7g/t.

Hengyi Mine is located between the Mojiang-Jinping
Fold Belt and the Ailaoshan Fold Belt of the San
Jiang Metamorphic Fold System.

Exploration activities first took place in the 1950s and
production commenced in 2003.

Hengyi Mine consists of two mining areas, namely
Bianfushan mining area and Shangzhai mining area.
Total area under the mining licences is approximately
9.1 km®. It also contains four exploration licences in
adjacent areas with aggregate area of approximately
36.7 km®.

Yongfeng Gold Mine in Inner
Mongolia

The Yongfeng Mine is located in Honghuagou, Inner
Mongolia. It currently holds seven mining licenses
covering a total mining area of 0.92 km®. The mine
is an underground mine located in Honghuagou
mineralization belt of Inner Mongolia that has
relatively high gold grade. It has gold resources of 0.5
million ounces with average grade of 9.5g/t.
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Gold output to 124,000 ounces, representing
an increase of 42%. Gold resources and
reserves approximately 7.5 million ounces,
representing more than 30% increase. Sales
income for the year was approximately
HK$1,626,000,000, representing a year-on-
year increase of HK$507,000,000 or 45%.
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA) for the year
was approximately HK$1,131,000,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of
HK$306,000,000 or 37%.
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Turnover for the year is
45%more than last year

PEUEBERAE
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$1,626
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Major Financial Highlight

FTEVBHBERE

Financial Data Summary FY 2012 FY 2011  Movement %
MHBIEHE 20124 2011 & 21t %
Gold output (thousand ounces) =4 EE (THA)) 124.0 87.6 42%
Sales income (HK$'000) HEEWA(FHBIT) 1,626,023 1,119,298 45%
Gross profit (HK$’000) EFMB(FHT) 1,039,325 724,587 43%
EBITDA (HK$'000) SR e A
@ (FET) 1,131,328 824,573 37%

Net profit (HK$’000) SFRE (FHT) 445,078 417,406 7%
Total assets (HK$'000) BEE(THET) 9,305,986 6,150,184 51%
Total debts* (HK$'000) BEF(THmT) 1,997,804 1,347,702 48%
Cash and bank balances* BE RIRITHEH

(HK$'000) (F&1) 184,653 125,998 47%
Net debts* (HK$'000) FEE(FERT) 1,813,241 1,221,704 48%
Total equity (HK$'000) BRRA (FHT) 5,605,068 3,557,712 58%
Notes*: faE™ -

— Cash and bank balances include pledged bank deposit.

- Total debts are bank and other borrowings, derivative financial -

instruments and convertible bonds.

— Net debts are total debts less cash and bank balances.
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Dear shareholders:

Thank you for all your continuous trust and
support for the Group, on behalf of China Precious
Metal Resources Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
| am pleased to report the Group’s operating
performance for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Looking back to 2012, both the international and
domestic economies were facing great challenges
and uncertainties. Europe was challenged by the
sovereign debt crisis whereas China for the first time
lowered its expected economic growth rate under the
backdrop of peripheral environment, macroeconomic
situation and the shift of the economic growth mode.
Under the circumstances of continuing uncertainty of
the macro-economic environment and the monetary
easing policy, gold, playing its traditional role of
hedging against inflation, is an alternative investment
instrument to paper currency and continues to be
sought after by the investors.

In the market condition of coexistence of
opportunities and challenges, with clear market
orientation, straightforward strategic direction
and unique development advantages, the Group
significantly expanded gold production and
increased gold resources and reserves. In 2012,
the Group produced a total of 124,000 ounces
of gold, representing a year-on-year increase of
42%; recording a turnover of HK$ 1.626 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 45%;
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) amounted to HK$ 1.131 billion
with a year-on-year increase of substantial 37%. At
the same time the net profit amounted to HK$ 445
million, up 7% compared with last year.

The most notably highlight of this year is that the
Group signed a cooperation framework agreement on
mineral resources exploration and development with
the local government of Yunnan Province. According
to the agreement, with the local government’s strong
support and assistance on exploration, development
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and consolidation of gold resources, the Group will
have the priority to access to the gold mining assets
in the region. Moreover, the local government will
provide support on infrastructure, including power,
water and logistics. In order to expand its gold
mineral assets and increase gold resources and
reserves, on 16 October 2012 the Group made the
strategic acquisition of Hengyi Mine in Pu’er, Yunnan
for a total consideration of RMB 1.988 billion. After
the acquisition, the open pit mining operation has
already commenced. The Group has planned to
build two processing plants for the underground
mining operation which are expected to be launched
into production after completion by the end of 2014.
Upon completion of the construction, it is expected
that the processing capacity will reach to 2,000
tonnes/day (0.6 million tonnes/year). Apart from the
mining licences, the project also has four exploration
licences in the adjacent areas with a total area of
approximately 36.7km?. The technical consultant
has identified significant resource upside potential
via further drilling due to multiple stacked vein style
of mineralisation which remain open in all directions.
During 2013-2014, the Group will accelerate the
exploration activities by way of 10,000 meters infill
drilling per annum.

The acquisition of Hengyi Mine has significantly
enhanced gold resources and reserves, output,
revenue and exploration potential of the Group, so
as to create significant value for shareholders. The
successful acquisition of the project has established
the Group’s position as one of the largest gold
resources companies and one of the largest gold
producers in Yunnan Province. The Department of
Commerce of Yunnan Province has awarded the
Group as Top 10 Foreign Investment Enterprises in
Yunnan Province. The Group will maintain the good
momentum to continue to extend its influence in the
region, in order to further increase its resource base
and output.

Other than Hengyi Mine, the Group also has four
other high-quality gold mines: Jinxing Mine and
Luanling Mine in Henan, Mojiang Mine in Yunnan and
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Yongfeng Mine in Inner Mongolia. Due to expansion
in mining and processing capacity and improvement
of recovery rate, the above four mines have also
achieved massive production expansions. Exploiting
the advantageous mining conditions, high-grade ore
and scientific production methods, the Group’s cash
cost of US$359 per ounce of gold is also one of the
lowest in global gold producers.

In 2013, the global economy is expected to
recover slowly. However, it is expected that the
U. S. will continue to implement the loose monetary
policy. Therefore, gold remains to be an alternative
investment instrument to the paper currency
and continues to be sought after by investors.
Furthermore, the global gold reserves remains at the
same level while the supply growth is limited. The
fact that cash cost and capital expenditure for gold
mining are on the rise, lays a very solid fundamental
for gold price. Such context has created a promising
development potential for the Group’s future business
growth. The Group will seize this opportunity by
maintaining its strategy focus on gold business,
expanding the prospecting area, accelerating the
constructions of projects, increasing economies
of scale and cost effect, keeping cash cost under
control and persevering environmental protection and
sustainable growth. We assume the responsibility of
being a dependable enterprise while maximizing the
shareholders’ value.

Finally, | hereby would like to extend my most sincere
gratitude to Members of the Board for their efforts
and trust to the Company, and to all shareholders,
the management, the entire staff, the investors,
as well as business partners of the Group for their
continuous support.

Lam Cham
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013
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Gold output for the year Z 4?[]{]
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The group’s growth will come from optimizing existing operations

and acquiring promising new projects.

As one of the lowest-cost gold producers,

we are well positionedM@stake the leadership in the consolidation of gold industry
in China and achieve superior value for shareholders.
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2012 Highlights

o Gold production increased significantly by
42% (2012: 124,000 ounces, 2011: 87,000
ounces)

o Turnover increased by 45% (2012: HK$1,626
million, 2011: HK$1,119 million)

° EBITDA increased by 37% (2012: HK$ 1,131
million, 2011: HK$825 million)

° Completion of the acquisition of Hengyi mine,
a mega-scale gold mine in Yunnan Province
with gold resources increment of 1.7 million
ounces, increasing the gold resource base
of the Group to approximately 7.5 million
ounces.

Major Corporate Events
Merger, Acquisition and Consolidation

In July 2012, the Group signed a cooperation
framework agreement on mineral resources
exploration and development with the local
government of Yunnan Province. According to the
agreement, with the local government’s strong
support and assistance on exploration, development
and consolidation of gold resources, the Group will
have the priority to access to the gold mining assets
in the region. Moreover, the local government will
provide support on infrastructure, including power,
water and logistics.

On 6 July 2012, in order to expand its gold mineral
assets and increase gold resources and reserves,
the Group made the strategic acquisition of
Hengyi Mine in Pu’er, Yunnan for a consideration
of RMB1,988,000,000. The resolution of acquiring
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Gold production for the year
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all the issued shares capital of the target company
was approved by independent shareholders at the
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 12 October
2012. The acquisition of Hengyi Mine was officially
completed on 16 October 2012,

Hengyi Mine has two mining areas, namely
Bianfushan and Shangzhai. The total mining area is
9 km?®. Hengyi Mine is at an advantageous
geographical location with several state highways
connecting to Kunming, the provincial capital. Runge
Pincock Minarco, the technical consultant, has
issued an independent technical report on the mine,
whereby it has a JORC-compliant gold resources
of 1.7 million ounces at an average grade of 2.7g/t,
and a JORC-compliant gold reserves of 0.395 million
ounces at an average grade of 2.9g/t.

Exploration activities at the mine have begun since
the 1950s. The small-scale production of open pit
mining began in 2003. After the acquisition, the
Group has commenced open pit mining operation.
The Group has planned to build two processing
plants for the underground mining operation, which
are expected to be launched into production after
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completion by the end of 2014. Upon completion
of the construction, it is expected that the total
processing capacity will reach to 2,000 tonnes/day
(0.6 million tonnes/year). The acquisition of Hengyi
Mine has significantly enhanced gold resources and
reserves, and output of the Group.

Apart from the mining licences, the project also has
four exploration licences in the adjacent areas with a
total area of approximately 36.7 km?. The technical
consultant, Runge Pincock Minarco, has identified
significant resource upside potential via further drilling
due to multiple stacked vein style of mineralisation
which remain open in all directions. During 2013-
2014, the Group will accelerate the exploration
activities by way of 10,000 meters infill drilling per
annum.

The successful acquisition of the project has
established the Group’s position as one of the largest
gold resources companies and one of the largest
gold producers in Yunnan Province. The Department
of Commerce of Yunnan Province has awarded the
Group as Top 10 Foreign Investment Enterprises in
Yunnan Province. The Group will maintain the good
momentum to continue to extend its influence in the
region, in order to further increase its resource and
production base.
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Gold Market Outlook

In 2012, the international gold spot market opened
at US$1,570/ounce and closed at US$1,675/
ounce, with an annual increase of 6.7%. The lowest
and highest prices were US$1,540/ounce and
US$1,790/ounce respectively; average price for the
year was US$1,668/ounce. Looking back to 2012,
both the international and domestic economies
were facing great challenges and uncertainties.
Europe was challenged by the sovereign debt
crisis whereas China for the first time lowered its
expected economic growth rate under the backdrop
of peripheral environment, macroeconomic situation
and the shift of the economic growth mode. Under
the circumstances of continuing uncertainty of the
macro-economic environment and the monetary
easing policy, gold, playing its traditional role of
hedging against inflation, is an alternative investment
instrument to paper currency and continues to be
sought after by the investors.

Looking forward, despite the slowing growth rate
of the physical demand of gold, there is still plenty
of room for the demand growth. According to the
statistics of World Gold Council, the market demand
for gold and jewels in China (the 2nd largest gold
consumer in the world) will be enjoying great growth
rate in the next few years. As indicated by the
Ministry of Industry Information Technology (“MIIT”),
the annual average growth rate of domestic gold
output will be in the range of 3-5% for the period of
the Twelfth Five-Year Plan. By 2015, the output of
gold will reach to 420 tonnes, with a target of 450
tonnes. For the period of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan,
the output of gold is targeted at a range of 1,900-
2,100 tonnes, with the growth rate more than 30%
higher than the period of the Eleventh Five-Year
Plan. Given the high liquidity of gold, coupled with
the characteristics of hedging against inflation, gold
demand is expected to be well supported. It is also
expected that the domestic gold consumption will
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exceed 1,000 tonnes by 2015 but the gold output
can reach to approximately 450 tonnes only. Thus,
the gap between supply and demand will be even
bigger. Furthermore, the central banks of all nations
will continue buying gold. In 2012, the gold reserves
of the central banks of all nations had a year-on-year
increase of approximately 17.4%, representing a total
purchase of approximately 536 tonnes. Purchase
of gold from developing countries indicated faster
growth rate. Most of the developing countries
increased purchase of gold in order to diversify their
foreign exchange reserves when the gold price was
at a low level.

In terms of the global supply, gold output of the
seven major gold producers either maintained the
same level or slightly decreased in the past few
years. The cash cost was on the rise too. The cash
cost of major gold producers worldwide rose from
US$422/ounce to US$694/ounce. The limited supply
growth is expected to support the long term gold
price.

China gold makers are undergoing consolidation. As
indicated by the MIIT, China government will reduce
over 700 gold producing enterprises at the end of the
Eleventh Five-Year Plan to approximately 600 through
consolidation. By 2015, gold output of large and
medium gold enterprises will take more than 70%
of the total gold output in the country. The growth
strategy of the Group is in line with the guidance
of the MIIT, which will provide policy and regulatory
support for the Group’s on-going expansion through
further merger and acquisition, to increase gold
resources and reserves, and output.
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Operation Review

As a result of the continuous efforts of upgrading
processing plants and sewage treatment systems in
2012, the Group has achieved significant growth of
gold production. Apart from the recent acquisition of
Hengyi Mine in Yunnan, the Group also wholly-owns
and operates the following gold mines:

Henan Jinxing Mine

Henan Jinxing Mine is the largest mine in terms of
resources and gold production of the Group. It is
an underground mine located in Luanchan County
Henan Province, 110 km southwest of Luoyang. With
exploration activities commencing in 1956, it started
gold production since 1982. Ten vein groups have
been identified within the mining area, with similar
orientation, size and shape. The variation of overall
continuity of the thickness and grade of the vein is
also relatively constant.

Extensive exploration works have been conducted
in Jinxing Mine during the year, and encouraging
progress has been achieved. Gold resources
increased 10% to 2.64 million ounces, with average
grade of 4.6g/t. Gold reserves also increased 67%
to 0.84 million ounces, with average grade of 4.7g/
t. Further exploration activities are underway to pave
way for future expansion. At the same time, thanks
to the upgrade in ore processing capacity and
improvement on the recovery rate, gold production
in Jinxing increased 22% to 45 thousand ounces
during the year from 37 thousand ounces in 2011.
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Henan Luanling Mine

Luanling Mine is located in Luanchuan County
Henan Province, 40 km away from Jinxing Mine. It is
composed of Northern underground mining site and
Southern open-pit mining site. Exploration activities
commenced in 1950s and small-scale production
started in 1989. It has gold resources of 2.1 million
ounces with average grade of 3.2g/t.

Construction and production of the flotation
processing plant in Luanling Mine completed during
2011, enabling a smooth commercial production
throughout 2012. Luanling Mine has the highest
production growth rate within the Group, with
total gold production during the year reaching 33
thousand ounces, increasing by 65% as compared
with 20 thousand ounces in 2011. Ongoing
exploration activities are conducted in Luanling,
providing high potential for near-term resource
expansion.

Yunnan Mojiang Mine

Mojiang Mine is located in Mojiang County Pu’er City
Yunnan Province, approximately 300 km south of the
provincial capital — Kunming. It is an open-pit mine
and lies on famous Mojiang-Jinping and Ailaoshan
Fold, featuring favorable geology attributions.
Mojiang Mine has a total gold resources of 0.5 million
ounces, with an average grade of around 2.0g/t.
Exploration activities began in 1945 and production
started in 1976. As a result of expanding ore
processing capacity and sewage treatment system,
gold production and efficiency improved significantly.
During the year, Mojiang Mine produced 35 thousand
ounces of gold, increasing by 52% as compared with
23 thousand ounces in 2011.
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Initial drilling data shows great potential in
underground ore body in terms of gold resource
and grade. The Group has proceeded with further
underground exploration to expand the resource
base and thus extend the mine life of the Mojiang
Mine.

Inner Mongolia Yongfeng Mine

Inner Mongolia Yongfeng Mine is an underground
mine. The output of Yongfeng Mine in 2012 is 8
thousand ounces of gold, almost the same as that of
2011.

Business Review
Gold Output

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group achieved a total gold output of 3,860 kg
(approximately 124 thousand ounces). The gold
output of Jinxing Mine, Luanling Mine, Mojiang
Mine, Hengyi Mine and Yongfeng Mine were 1,407
kg (approximately 45 thousand ounces), 1,028
kg (approximately 33 thousand ounces), 1,090
kg (approximately 35 thousand ounces), 98 kg
(approximately 3 thousand ounces) and 237 kg
(approximately 8 thousand ounces) respectively,
with 42% growth in the total output compared to the
previous year.

Revenue

The significant growth in our turnover was
attributable to the contributions from gold mines in
Jinxing, Luanling, Mojiang, Hengyi and Yongfeng to
our final results. During the year ended 31 December
2012, the revenue of the Group was approximately
HK$ 1,626,023,000 (2011: approximately HK$
1,119,298,000), up 45 % from last year.
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EBITDA

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
Group’s business generated an earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization
(“EBITDA”) of HK$ 1,131,328,000 (2011: HK$
824,573,000), up 37% from last year

Net Profit

During the year ended 31 December 2012,
the net profit of the Group was approximately
HK$ 445,078,000 (2011: approximately HK$
417,406,000), up 7 % from last year.

Earnings Per Share

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
earnings per share for ordinary shareholders was
approximately HK 12.2 cents (2011: approximately
HK 12.0 cents), up 2% from last year.

Selling and Distribution Costs

During the current financial year, the Group’s selling
and distribution costs amounted to approximately
HK$ 11,917,000, an increase of approximately
HK$4,567,000 or 62% over the last financial year.
Such increase was mainly due to the expansion of
the Group’s gold mining business.

Administrative Expenses

During the current financial year, the Group’s
administrative expenses increased by
HK$102,258,000 or 124% compared with the last
financial year. In addition to expenses related to
gold production and business expansion through
acquisition, such increase was attributable to the
increase in the total number of employees for gold
mining business and fair value of share options
granted to directors and employees by the Group in
October 2011 recognized as equity-settled share-
based expenses.
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Finance Costs

During the current financial year, the Group’s finance
costs amounted to HK$ 179,527,000, representing
an increase of HK$ 108,826,000 or 154 %. The
increase in finance costs was mainly due to new
bank and other borrowings obtained by the Group
during the year.

Deferred Tax

As at 31 December 2012, deferred tax arising from
mergers and acquisitions of gold mines in prior
years amounted to HK$ 675,729,000, which was
calculated at a tax rate of PRC income tax of 25%
on the increase in fair value of mining rights, and was
subsequently offset on amortization of such increase
in mining rights at a rate of 25%. Such liabilities were
accounted for in accordance with the accounting
principle and therefore no repayment is required.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Cash flow of the Group remains healthy. The Group
is in possession of reasonable operating cash
flow due to the strong growth in our operations.
As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s cash and
bank balances (including pledged bank deposit)
were HK$ 184,653,000 (31 December 2011: HK$
125,998,000). Net assets were HK$ 5,605,068,000
(31 December 2011: HK$ 3,557,712,000) and
net current liabilities were HK$ 655,118,000
(31 December 2011: HK$ 465,659,000).

Capital Structure

During the period under review, no share options of
the Group were exercised. As at 31 December 2012,
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 4,350,727,315 shares (31 December
2011: 3,331,687,232 shares), each of HK$0.125.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

As the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions are principally denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars,
the Board is of the view that the Group’s exposure to
exchange rate risk is limited.

Employees

As at 31 December 2012, the Group employed
approximately 1,073 employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. All employees are remunerated
according to their performance, experience and
prevailing industry practices. Both on-the-job and
professional training are provided as well. The Group
provides retirement benefits, either in the form of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted ORSO or
Mandatory Provident Fund entitlement, to employees
in Hong Kong. A similar scheme is also maintained
for employees in the PRC.

Share Options Schemes

The Group has implemented a share option scheme
to reward eligible employees according to their
individual performance. Through dedication and
efforts of our management and employees, we aim
to maximize the value of our shareholders, investors,
management, and employees.

Gold Resources/Reserves

At the end of year 2012, the Group had total
resources reserve of 230.3 tonnes (2011: 173.8
tonnes) in terms of standard issued by the Joint
Ore Reserves Committee in Australia (“JORC”) and/
or its equivalent, representing an increase of 32.5%
from last year. Among these resources reserve,
indicated resources (inclusive of probable reserves)
were 91.7 tonnes (2011: 69.1 tonnes) and inferred
resources were 138.6 tonnes (2011: 104.7 tonnes).
The indicated resources (inclusive of probable
reserves) for Jinxing Mine, Luanling Mine, Mojiang
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Mine, Hengyi Mine and Yongfeng Mine were 41.8
tonnes, 20.4 tonnes, 8.7 tonnes, 15.3 tonnes and
5.6 tonnes respectively. The inferred resources for
Jinxing Mine, Luanling Mine, Mojiang Mine, Hengyi
Mine and Yongfeng Mine were 39.5 tonnes, 44.1
tonnes, 6.6 tonnes, 37.3 tonnes and 11.1 tonnes
respectively. The increase in resources reserve were
attributable to the completion of new acquisition and
consolidation of gold mines, new discoveries from
geological explorations and technical assessment
on resources reserve updated by independent
professional competent persons. The gold grade
ranged from 2.0g to 9.5g (2011: from 2.0g to 10.8g)
based on per tonne of resources reserve.

The exploration, development and mining
production expenditures expensed and
capitalised

During the year, the Group had expensed
expenditures of HK$357,162,000 for exploration,
development and mining production, and had
capitalized expenditures of HK$1,084,423,000 for
exploration, development and mining production.

Production Safety and
Environmental Protection

We operate in a responsible manner to ensure
the health and safety of our employees and the
communities in which we operate. We are committed
to meeting applicable legal requirements and
where possible seek to implement leading industry
standards in our operations. We have established
a dedicated safety and environment enhancement
team that is responsible for the occupational health
and safety of our mines and operations.

We are subject to various PRC laws and regulations
with respect to the prevention and treatment of
occupational diseases, the prevention of worksite
accidents and the handling of industrial injuries.
Production safety permits have been obtained for our
mines.
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We have adopted a comprehensive set of
internal occupational health and safety policies
for our mines. We conduct staff training, review
internal safety procedures, carry out regular on-
site safety inspections and continuously monitor
the implementation of safety policies. Protective
equipment and clothing are regularly provided to our
mine personnel, and we regularly check proper usage
of such equipment. In addition, each of our mines
has been equipped with a real-time visual monitoring
system to monitor mine operation and safety. We
have also set up an inspection and detection system
in the explosives warehouses in each of our mines to
provide comprehensive protection to the usage and
security of daily explosives.

We require our third-party contractors to possess
requisite production safety licences and relevant
qualifications for the work they contract from us and
to undertake appropriate safety measures.

We have been in compliance with all relevant PRC
laws and regulations regarding occupational health
and safety in all material respects. We have not had
any material accident involving death or personal
injury at any of the mines operated by us.

Relation with Government and
Awards

In July 2012, the Group signed the cooperation
framework agreement on mineral resources
exploration and development with the local
government of Yunnan Province. According to the
agreement, with the local government’s strong
support and assistance on exploration development
and consolidation of gold resources, the Group will
have the priority to access to the gold mining assets
in the region. Moreover, the local government will
provide support on infrastructure, including power,
water and logistics.
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In 2011, the Group also signed the similar framework
agreement with local government of Henan Province.
According to the agreement, the local government
will provide full support in terms of the Group’s
consolidation of precious metal resource sector in
the region. The group is also subject to the subsidy
policy tailored for foreign investment as well as
the favorable policy for land acquisition and other
approvals.

Following the various awards granted to Jinxing
Mine, Luanling Mine and Mojiang Mine in 2011, the
Group was again granted various provincial and
local government awards in 2012. Jingxing Mine
was again granted the award of “Enterprise with
Outstanding Contribution in 2012” by the People’s
Government of Luanchuan County, Henan Province
and “Leading Enterprise of Safe Production” and
“Leading Enterprise of Operation and Management
in 2012” by Luoyang Municipal Gold Bureau,
Henan Province. In 2012, Luanling Mine was again
granted the award of “Enterprise with Outstanding
Contribution in 2012” by Tantou Town, Luanchuan
County, Henan Province. Mojiang Mine was
honorably entitled as “Leading Private Enterprise
in 2012” by Pu’er City, Yunan Province. The Group
was granted the honorary title of “Leading Top 10
Foreign Investment Enterprises in Yunnan Province”
by Yunnan Province in 2012.

Corporate Strategy and Corporate
Prospect

Corporate strategy

We intend to further develop our business by
implementing the following strategies:
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Continue to expand the production capacity
of our existing mines

We will continue to expand production at our existing
mines. We will also expand the production capacity
of our on-site processing facilities to meet the
planned expansion of our ore output at those mines.
For example, we are in the process of (i) constructing
a new processing facility at Jinxing Mine, (ii)
constructing two new processing facilities at Luanling
Mine and expanding the existing open-pit mining
operation, (i) expanding the existing open-pit mining
operation at Mojiang Mine and (iv) constructing two
new processing facilities at Hengyi Mine and expect
to commence underground mining operation by the
end of 2013.

Continue to conduct further exploration to
increase and upgrade our resources and
reserves

We have four exploration permits and 12 mining
permits covering an aggregate area of approximately
36.7 km? and 48.4 km?, respectively, in Henan and
Yunnan Provinces and Inner Mongolia. The area
covered by our four exploration permits in Yunnan
Province, based on the opinion of an independent
technical expert, is considered to have excellent
exploration potential with high probability to
increase our resources with additional drilling and/
or trenching due to the multiple stacked vein style
of mineralisation which is known to extend at depth
and the identification and potential further discovery
of blind veins in that area. We will continue to explore
for new resources and reserves in the areas covered
by our existing mining and exploration permits to
increase and upgrade our resources and reserves
and extend the lives of our mines, which is essential
to the long-term sustainable development of our
business.
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Continue our expansion through future
acquisitions of high-quality gold mining
assets, with a particular focus on the central
and western regions of the PRC

We have achieved our rapid historical growth through
a series of acquisitions of high-quality gold mining
assets. We believe there are substantial growth
opportunities in the growing but fragmented gold
mining industry in the PRC. We intend, therefore,
to continue expanding our business through further
acquisitions of high-quality gold mining assets,
especially those which are underexplored and
underdeveloped but have potential to generate
significant value through additional exploration,
production expansion and technological innovation,
with a particular focus on the central and western
regions of the PRC. We have a dedicated team that
consists of experienced geological, finance and legal
personnel to identify and evaluate high-quality gold
resources for potential acquisition. In addition, we
believe our recognition as a “principal consolidator”
in the gold mining industry by local governmental
authorities in Henan and Yunnan Provinces would
also help facilitating our continued expansion through
acquisitions in those provinces.

Further improve production safety and
environmental protection

We believe that operating in a safe and responsible
manner is essential to our success and future growth.
We will continue to maintain and further improve
our production safety and environmental protection
systems by enhancing existing, and implementing
additional, policies and measures.
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Corporate Prospects

In this fiscal year, despite the impact of European
debt crisis and the slowing consumption growth
in western nations. In 2013, the global economy
is expected to recover slowly. However, it is
expected that the U. S. will continue to implement
the loose monetary policy. Therefore, gold remains
to be an alternative investment instrument to
the paper currency and continues to be sought
after by investors. Furthermore, the global gold
reserves remains at the same level while the supply
growth is limited. The fact that cash cost and
capital expenditure for gold mining are on the rise,
lays a very solid fundamental for gold price. Our
management expect that international gold price will
fluctuate at the high level, and may break the record
in the new fiscal year.

The Group has started specializing in the gold mining
business since 2009 and has already become the
largest Non-SOE gold mining company in China.
Going forward, the Group will continue to maintain
its low cost position, further ramp up its gold
production, endeavor on exploration and processing
technique improvement and thus further enhancing
the financial performance and profitability. In the
meantime, the Group will actively look to identify
and acquire more high quality gold assets to expand
its gold resource base and income in China’s gold
mining sector. Our management believes that as
a high growth, low cost and efficient Chinese gold
miner, together with the favorable macro-economy
environment, the support and assistance from the
local governments and experienced management
with excellent track records, the group can deliver
great results in the forthcoming fiscal year of 2013.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LAFERHBESE

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board has committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance and procedures to ensure integrity, transparency and quality of
disclosure in order to promote the ongoing development of the best long
term interest of the Company and enhance value for all the Shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions (“Code Provision(s)”)
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices for the period from 1
January 2012 to 31 March 2012 and the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) for the period from 1 April 2012 to 31 December 2012 as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save for the following:

Non-Executive Director, Mr. Wang, John Peter Ben and Independent
Non-Executive Director, Professor Xiao Rong Ge, were unable to attend
the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company held on 25 May
2012 and the extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) held on 12 October
2012 as provided for in Code Provision A.6.7 as they had other business
engagements. At these two general meetings of the Company, there were
Executive Directors and other Independent Non-Executive Directors present
to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
shareholders of the Company.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any
non-compliance with the Model Code during the financial year ended
31 December 2012, and they have all confirmed their full compliance with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Board

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board.
The major responsibilities of the Board include formulation of strategic
plans, adoption of corporate strategies, assessment of investment projects,
monitoring and controlling the Group’s operating and financial performance,
assessment and management of risk to which the Group is exposed. The
managements of the Group are responsible for the execution of the Board’s
decisions and day-to-day operation of the Group.
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Composition

As at 31 December 2012, the Board consists of 9 Directors, with 6 executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Cham (Chairman), Mr. Dai Xiaobing (Co-Chairman),
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, Mr. Deng Guoli, Mr. Zhang Shuguang, and Mr. Zhang
Liwei, and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor Wong
Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P., Mr. Chan Kin Sang and Professor Xiao
Rong Ge. Mr. Zhang Liwei on 1 January 2012, was first appointed as
executive Director.

Save that Mr. Zhang Shuguang is the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang, there
are no financial, business, family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

In 2012, the positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
were held separately. The role of Chairman was held by Mr. Lam Cham,
Co-chairman was held by Mr. Dai Xiaobing and Chief Executive Officer was
held by Mr. Zhang Shuguang. The segregation of duties of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage and provide leadership for the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer’s responsibility to manage the Company’s business.

The Company has appointed a sufficient number of independent non-
executive Directors with suitable professional qualifications, such as
expertise in accounting and financial management, in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules. They actively bring their valuable
experience to the Board for promoting the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As permitted under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”),
the Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance for
which Members of the Board and officers of the Company do not have to
bear any excess.
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The term of office of the Directors (including independent non-executive
directors) is 3 years. In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM of the
Company, one third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number
is not 3 or a multiple of 3, the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Directors shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In 2012, the Company held 13 Board meetings and 2 general meetings. The
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attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings and general meetings #EMMAKRE AL - FRENESEREEE S
during the year was: EMABRRAGHEFEELT
Meetings attended/held
HEEHRAY / BTEHRAH
Board General
meetings meetings
Name of Directors EEME ESEER REXE
Mr. Lam Cham, Chairman Mg E & 13/13 2/2
Mr. Dai Xiaobing, Co-chairman BN E  BELE 13/13 0/2
Mr. Chang Yim Yang REG LA 13/13 0/2
Mr. Deng Guoli BRI 54 13/13 1/2
Mr. Zhang Liwei (Appointed on 1 January 2012), RAO#GX4E(ZE——F—F—BEZT) 13/13 2/2
Chief Financial Officer e
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Chief Executive Officer %EB%;H‘EE TR AE % 13/13 1/2
Mr. Wang John Peter Ben TEE §‘E$
(Resigned on 31 December 2012) (ZE—=—F+ZA=+—H%1) 12/13 0/2
Professor Wong Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P EHEEEHIY  WEMEE - B A FH+ 13/13 2/2
Mr. Chan Kin Sang BRIGEAE S 10/13 2/2
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EESE 6 12/13 0/2
The minutes of Board meetings are prepared by the company secretary of ZEEEERHILHHAREHENERE  £€:5
the meeting. The draft minutes are circulated to all Members of the Board for & REMAS RN © SR CHERBEEXT

their comments and the final version of the minutes is sent to all Members
of the Board for their records within a reasonable time after the meeting.
The minutes are also open for inspection by all Members of the Board at the
Company’s registered office.
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Directors’ continuous professional development EEREEXERE

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional AAFHEN T EEEXMSEHELRE - A%
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The REREEFNBEEHMHE LR - ARG 2B BE
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of  THlst & M [AE BIRMEEIER - AEELHE
seminar and provision of training materials. A summary of training received ~ R EBEEH) o 1R IEE IR AL - EE N HRE
by Directors during the relevant period according to the records provided by — HAREZSZ&IEHIBEZ T -

the Directors is as follows:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and

other relevant topics

TLEEL BEEERR

Name of Directors ESlA H {th 48 RA £ =EE I
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Lam Cham Mk A v
Mr. Dai Xiaobing BEEE v
Mr. Chang Yim Yang wBFF LA v
Mr. Deng Guoli BOE R 4 A4 v
Mr. Zhang Liwei SRAMETE

(Appointed on 1 January 2012) (ZE—=—F—A—HEZE) v
Mr. Zhang Shuguang R4 v/
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang John Peter Ben FEERE

(Resigned on 31 December 2012) (ZE—=—F+ZA=+—H#F) v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFBITESE
Professor Wong Lung Tak, EREHRIR - WEHEE v

Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P 1g1+ - X Fat
Mr. Chan Kin Sang PREZA ST v
Professor Xiao Rong Ge EEJLE €5 v
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Board Committees

Audit committee

The Group has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
under the Board. The Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Professor Wong Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P,
Mr. Chan Kin Sang and Professor Xiao Rong Ge. Professor Wong Lung Tak,
Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s duties are mainly to review the Company’s
financial reports, make recommendations on the appointment, removal
and remuneration of independent auditors and approve audit and audit-
related services, and supervise the Company’s internal financial reporting
procedures and management policies.

At least two meetings of the Audit Committee will be convened annually to
review the accounting policies, internal control and the relevant financial and
accounting issues, so as to ensure fairness and accuracy of the Company’s
financial statements and other relevant information. The minutes of the Audit
Committee meetings are prepared by the secretary of the meeting. The
draft minutes are circulated to the Committee Members for comments and
the final version of the minutes is sent to the Committee Members for their
records within a reasonable time after the meeting. The minutes are also
open for inspection by the Committee Members at the Company’s registered
office.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there were two Audit Committee
meetings held to review the interim and annual financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and internal control matters.
All members of the Audit Committee have attended all meetings during the
year.
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Remuneration committee

The Group has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”). The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, Professor Wong Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD,
J.P. and Mr. Chan Kin Sang, and one executive Director, Mr. Lam Cham.
Mr. Lam Cham is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
Company has formulated written terms of reference for the Remuneration
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and in
overseeing and evaluating remuneration packages of the Directors. Its
duties include making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management. It takes
into consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors. It also takes into account whether the emoluments offered are
appropriate to the duties and performance of the respective individuals
concerned and whether such emoluments are competitive and sufficiently
attractive to retain such individuals.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was one Remuneration
Committee meeting held for the amendment of terms of directors’ service
agreements during the year. All members of the Remuneration Committee
have attended all the meetings during the year.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) under the Board. Members of the Nomination Committee
consists of two independent non-executive Directors, Professor Wong Lung
Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P. and Mr. Chan Kin Sang, and one executive
Director, Mr. Lam Cham. Mr. Lam Cham is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and making
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o assessing the independence of independent non-executive directors;
and
° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-

appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was one Nomination
Committee meeting held. All members of the Nomination Committee have
attended all the meetings during the year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012 — & — —F F 3R

REEES

ARAEREFEE TRURELZZES(RE
EEE ) REZESNEREMABEILIFHN
TEFEERBIR(REMNESE - 8L - KF#
T MREBEFEUR —BHITEEMELL -
MERERRRZEEIRE

REZBEEREANUTETE ¢

. BEERERZRE  RENER (B
BE - AENER)  UREREEEI
LA AR B RRESIRE IR R

. MEBENAERKNAESTENE ZE
A UHBERBHEESE ZEAEL
EEFNR R

. SHEBMIEMITEE 2B K

. METREBER AN EETETFE (L
HEAEFRERITHRER) AESSREHS
i o

REE-—ZE——F+-_A=+—HIEE &

RABT-RRZZEGEH - MAREZEE
ENEHELFEFAZIEE -

37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NEERBRESE

W Lz ey Ny
R/
VL B LB ENDS ;

Corporate Governance Committee

The Group has established a corporate governance committee (the
“Corporate Governance Committee”). The Corporate Governance
Committee consists of three executive Directors, Mr. Lam Cham, Mr. Zhang
Shuguang and Mr. Zhang Liwei. Mr. Lam Cham is the chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for the following:

° developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

° reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and

° reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, there was one Corporate
Governance Committee meeting held. All members of the Corporate
Governance Committee have attended all the meetings during the year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and ensure that they are prepared
in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of such financial
statements.
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The statement of the external auditors of the Company, Messrs Crowe
Horwath (HK) CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Company’s financial statements is set out in the Auditor’s Report on
pages 63 to 64.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the amounts billed by its external
auditors, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited in respect of services provided
to the Company were as follows:
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HK$’000

FiET

Audit services EIZRTS 2,500
Non-audit services IEEIZ RS

Interim review fh HRZE R 500

Internal control review NP ES 1 2 5 250

3,250

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities to maintain a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets. The Group has established
guidelines and procedures for the approval and control of expenditure.
Operating expenditures and capital expenditures are subject to the overall
budget control and approval process prior to commitment.
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The Board has, through the Audit Committee of the company, conducted
the annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal
controls for the year ended 31 December 2012. The review covered all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. There were no significant control failings,
weaknesses or significant areas of concern identified during the year which
might affect shareholders.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary, Ms. Yim Siu Hung, is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as communications among Board members,
with shareholders and management. Ms. Yim’s biography is set out in the
“Biographical Details of the Directors and the Senior Management” section
on pages 42 to 48. During the year, Ms. Yim took not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company’s AGM and EGM provide the principal channels of
communication with its shareholders. They provide opportunities for
shareholders to share views with the Board.

Shareholders’ rights

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

Under the Company’s Articles, the Board, on the requisition of shareholders
of the Company holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong,
shall convene an extraordinary general meeting to address specific issues
specified in such requisition of the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies
to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.
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Enquiries to the Board MEESFHESR

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company’s Principal Place of B B Al i B AN R A &8 = B2 ¥ 1 T A

Business in Hong Kong at Room 3107-9, Shun Tak Centre West Tower, 200 Z =€ {EH & #H Mt AF B THEF

Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (email: info@cpmgroup.hk). 20057 12 1= & /0 7 E3107-9F ( E # b 41t -
info@cpmgroup.hk) °

Constitutional documents EREXMH
During the year ended 31 December 2012, there is no change inthe HE_-_Z——F+_A=+—HILFE AR
Company’s constitutional documents. AN ERE I mE D) o
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Executive Directors

Mr. LAM Cham (#f%%), aged 54, was appointed as chairman of
the Board on 3 March 2011. The Group was founded in 1999 and
Mr. LAM was one of the founders. He is now responsible for the Group’s
overall strategic development and supervising the Group’s general
operations. Mr. LAM currently is a member of the Yunnan Committee of
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. CHANG Yim Yang (5REPz), aged 50, was first appointed as
executive Director on 19 June 2008. Mr. CHANG was awarded post-
graduate diploma by University of Shenzhen in International Finance.
Mr. CHANG is experienced in mergers and acquisitions as well as capital
market operations. He is well versed in investment operations in Mainland
China and has more than ten years of experience in the industry. Mr. CHANG
is the brother of Mr. ZHANG Shuguang.

Mr. DAI Xiaobing (&i/IMg), aged 45, was first appointed as executive
Director on 16 November 2009, and as Chief Executive Officer on 21
January 2010. On 6 September 2011, Mr. DAI has resigned as the Chief
Executive Officer and was appointed as the Co-chairman of the Company.
Mr. DAl was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by Jilin University School of
Business (& A EERT). Mr. DAl is experienced in the corporate finance
sector as well as merger and acquisitions and corporate structuring of
companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with the capital market in the PRC.
Currently, Mr. DAl is an independent director of Jiangxi Canneng Co., Ltd.
(I PEEE L% 1D B R A A1) (Stock code: 000899), a company listed on the
stock exchange of Shenzhen and an executive director of Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 702), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. DENG Guoli (EBEI#F), aged 47, was first appointed as executive
Director on 3 March 2011. Mr. DENG holds a bachelor’'s degree in
Geology from East China Geological Institute, a Master degree in Business
Administration from the Management School of Xi An Jiao Tong University
(AL BAEEIEER). He is currently a senior geological engineer. Mr.
DENG worked in Geological Team 211 (Northwestern) of China’s Nuclear
Industry Authority (Fp B#% T 2 #8751k ———#h/E KB ) and had respectively
held the positions of Geological Technician, Assistant Engineer, Engineer
and Senior Engineer, Project Technology Supervisor and Project Supervisor.
He also served as the Assistant to Mine Manager at Shanxi Pangjiahe Gold
Mine (BRPEREES A & BB R BHIE). Mr. Deng had long been engaging in the
investigations for regional mineral production, surveys, exploration, mine
exploitation and gold heap leaching. He has extensive experience and
knowledge in the areas of geological evaluation of mines, mine construction,
mine selection and production, and operational management. He was
appointed as the vice-president and chief engineer of the Mining Operation
of the Company on 21 January 2010 and as the deputy general manager of
technology of the China Operation Center (“Operation Center”) on 3 March
2011.

Mr. ZHANG Shuguang (GREEJE), aged 43, was appointed as executive
director and Chief Executive Officer on 6 September 2011 of the Company.
Mr. ZHANG holds a master degree in Engineering from Nippon Institute
of Technology and possesses the professions in mining field. Mr. ZHANG,
whose primary responsibility is the acquisition and operation of mineral
resources, has taken in charge of acquisitions of gold mines in Henan and
Yunnan Provinces and Inner Mongolia. He was appointed as the general
manager of the Operation Center of the Company from 3 March 2011 to 6
September 2011. Mr. ZHANG is the brother of Mr. CHANG Yim Yang.
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Mr. Zhang Liwei (38 J74), aged 34, was appointed as an executive director
and chief financial officer of the Company on 1 January 2012 and 12 June
2012 respectively. Mr. Zhang was most recently Senior Vice President
with Macquarie Capital. Mr. Zhang has 10 years’ experience in providing
investment-banking services to natural resource companies on mergers and
acquisitions, divestments, debt and equity capital raisings. Throughout his
career, Mr. Zhang has worked for various international companies, such as
N M Rothschild & Sons, Citigroup, HSBC and Macquarie Capital. Mr. Zhang
received his Bachelor degree in Economics with First Class Honors from
London School of Economics and Political Science in United Kingdom.

b4

=y
4

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor WONG Lung Tak, Patrick (38E#&) BBS, J.P,, aged 65, was
appointed independent non-executive Director on 19 June 2004. Professor
WONG is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and the
Managing Practising Director of Patrick Wong C.P.A. Limited, Wong Lam
Leung & Kwok C.P.A. Limited and Hong Kong Pengcheng C.PA. Limited.
He has over 30 years’ experience in the accountancy profession. Professor
WONG was awarded a Badge of Honour by the Queen of England in 1993;
was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1998 and also awarded a Bronze
Bauhinia Star by the Government of the HKSAR in 2010. He has been
appointed Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University since 2002. Professor WONG participates
in many types of community services and is holding posts in various
organisations and committees in government and voluntary agencies.
Professor WONG is an independent non-executive director of C C Land
Holdings Limited; Water Oasis Group Limited; Sino Oil and Gas Holdings
Limited; Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited; Guangzhou Pharmaceutical
Company Limited, Real Nutriceutical Group Limited and Winox Holdings
Limited all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Professor WONG is also an independent non-executive director of National
Arts Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. CHAN Kin Sang (FBRf&4E), aged 61, was first appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 19 June 2004. Mr. CHAN is currently the sole
proprietor of Messrs. Peter K.S. Chan & Co., Solicitors and Notaries. Mr.
CHAN has been a practising solicitor in Hong Kong since 1982. Mr. CHAN
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in laws
in 1979. Mr. CHAN was admitted as a notary public in 1997 and as a China-
appointed attesting officer in 2000. Mr. CHAN is currently a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. CHAN is currently an independent non-
executive director of each of People’s Food Holdings Limited and Luxking
Group Holdings Limited and non-executive director of Pan Hong Property
Group Limited. The shares of all these companies are listed on Singapore
Stock Exchange Limited. Mr. CHAN is also an independent non-executive
director of International Taifeng Holdings Limited, a non-executive director of
United Pacific Industries Limited, and Combest Holdings Limited and Pacific
Plywood Holdings Limited. The shares of all of these companies are listed
on the Stock Exchange.

Professor XIAO Rong Ge (H#[), aged 64, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director and member of Audit Committee of the
Company. Professor XIAO obtained his PhD in Professional Geology from
the China University of Geosciences (Beijing). He is currently a professor of
Professional Geology and mentor to doctoral students at the China University
of Geosciences (Beijing). Professor XIAO has long been conducting research
work in the fields of geology, mineral exploration and economic evaluation.
He participated in the fieldwork of geological inspection of metal minerals by
an integrated exploration team of the geological exploration company of the
Ministry of Metallurgical Industry of China, mainly at the regions of Langshan
mountain Bayan Obo, Manzhouli and Daxinganling of Inner Mongolia, PRC.
He also took part in the geological research work of the Three-River Area
of Yunnan and the system research of meso-cenozoic geological minerals
and sylvite and copper minerals in Yunnan. As a post-doctoral researcher at
the Institute of Geochemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences, he engaged in
geological geochemistry research, focusing in research on the formation of
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meso-cenozoic sandstone-type copper minerals. He is currently specialized
in gold and silver deposits research, and has splendid achievement in
hydrothermal fluid and hydrothermal sedimentary rock research. His
monograph named “Mineralization Rule and Anticipation of Gold Minerals
in the Innermost Part of Xiao Qin Ling” {/N= 14504 TR & 45 /42 B Rk iR 78
) was published in 2009. Professor XIAO had engaged in the projects of
the National Science Foundation of China, basic technical research projects
of the Department of Technology, Ministry of Land and Resources, national
geological inspection projects, open laboratory projects on geochemistry
of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and related provincial projects of
the Department of Land and Resources and various mining enterprises
projects, and was awarded a Third Class Award of Technological Progress
by the Ministry of Geology and Mineral Resources, a First Class Award and
a Second Class Award of Technological Achievement by the Ministry of
Land and Resources. Professor XIAO had engaged in consultant services
for mining investment, valuation for financing, mining rights valuation and
technical inspection, and had conducted valuation of mining resources for
various mining enterprises.

Senior Management

Mr. MEI Ximin (ZR), aged 53, was appointed as vice-president of
Environmental and Governmental Affairs of the Company. Mr. MEI holds a
bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jilin University and currently is a senior
economist. Mr. MEI had served in various administration offices of the PRC
Government for almost 20 years respectively as head officer, chief officer,
etc. He was also a member of the senior management of a state-owned
enterprise, and familiar with the public relations affairs of the Government.
Mr. MEI was in charge of the acquisition of Chifeng Yongfeng Kuangye
Co., Ltd. by the Group in 2008, and he was then the general manager of
Chifeng Yongfeng Kuangye Co., Ltd. and currently the general manager of
Mojiang County Mining Co., Ltd. On 1 March 2011, Mr. MEI was appointed
as deputy general manager of administration of the Operation Center of the
Company.
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Mr. WANG Junxian (E&%), aged 50, is the chief geological engineer of
the Company. He graduated from Chengdu University of Technology (5% #B
1 T K2 (formerly known as Chengdu College of Geology (5% B Hh/E £255%))
majored in geology and mining. Mr. WANG has engineer title. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. WANG worked for the Chinese People’s Armed Police Gold
Force (FEIEZ =4 #B/) and Shanxi Tongguan County Weinan City Gold
Mine (PR 78 E 78508 7 M 4 %) as chief engineer and deputy general manager
respectively. Mr. WANG has more than 26 years experience in geology,
mining, mine processing, mining technologies and mine management.

Mr. Duan Jinsun (EX£8%%), aged 71, quasi-professor senior engineer, is the
chief engineer and consultant in Yunnan of the Company. He had respectively
held positions as technician, engineer, and research team leader in the 15th
geological brigade of Geological Bureau of Yunnan Province and the Yunnan
Geological Science Research Institute (54 #E RIE8F5FT). Mr. Duan is
engaged in researches on geology and mineral assets. He has published the
following monographs, such as “Kunyang Group Geology in Yunnan”({Z
EEBEE )), “Pseudogymnosolenaceae of Precambrian”({ AT E = 42
BR&ER )), “Paleozoic Rifting and Mineralization in Dianxi”(GEPR & 4
RARERHEHE )), and “Research on the Bonding Zone of Lantsang River
Plate’(CBSATIIR 4SS 2R %S )). He also publishes ten academic essays
in the following magazines, such as Science China Press, Chinese Journal
of Geology, Geology Review, and Yunnan Geology, which earns two third
class awards for scientific achievements by the Science and Technology
Commission of Yunnan Province as well as one second class award for
scientific achievements by the Department of Geology and Minerals. Mr. Duan
Jinsun, as senior engineer, has been active in the work related to geology and
mineral exploration of that area organized by China Academy of Geological
Sciences, Yunnan Academy of Geological Science, and Yunnan Geology
Survey Institute for over ten years. He has obtained various achievements in
mineral exploration and accumulated abundant experience.

He collaborated with BGR and University of Goettingen in Germany, and
University of Ferrara in Italy on the research of geology and mineralization
in the Tethyan Tectonic Belt. He launches many cooperation programs in
Germany and ltaly.

ANNUAL REPORT 2012 =& — —FF I

EEBERE 50 RARAICEFHETRE
Bl o M REFREIE T KE (RIfE AR EIE 2
BT) @ EEHEBRIRIES - TEHR TEAD
Bl o MAAREER  TALELCRPRERES
I ERIERFZEm M B IIE  HhlE
FEFE IR REIAAEIE - TAENME - %
B HENT  RERNRESEEFE#ES
i 26 F LR o

BSBHEEE 75 HELASAIREHN A
AEEMEATZMKER FEEEREE
P15 EBMEREMEREMTHME
TizRb RREER - (CEFHEMEENT - 1
RIEEEBELE]  [MIERREBRRREE
Al DEARSERKAERERE] - DRAT
RRER T FE - UREPEBE 1
BHE2  wERT  ERmESETYMLEERS
MiwmX 10/F  BEEMEMEZRENOREK
R=FH2ME - BEEZMERERBEENT
RERR-ER - BBEERTIEMSETF
WER B EmemENSMAN - E8E
WH BB E ZMETTH R Fr i B iR E §
RIME  BUSFFERRANER -

FEREBEBGR  BEFERKNE - BXF
BN AKSZEETN R RIIBETHMBE HAK
& ZRBEE - BEAMRARAEER -

47



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHEEERBE

R/,

Mr. ZHOU Yuliang (B=FR), aged 42, was appointed as vice president of
the Company. Mr. ZHOU holds a master’s degree in finance from Hunan
University. Prior to joining the Company, he worked in financing departments
for a few leading banks based in Shenzhen. Prior to this he served for 6
years in a fund company specialised in mining sector. Mr. ZHOU joined the
company in 2008 and has been responsible for mining acquisitions and
operation work. On 1 March 2011, Mr. ZHOU was appointed as deputy
general manager of operation of the Operation Center of the Company.

Ms. YIM Siu Hung (B&f&%I), aged 48, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 12 June 2012. Ms. YIM holds a degree in
law and a degree in accountancy. She is an associate member of both The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators. She has years of extensive experience in the
company secretarial sector and has worked for international accounting and
law firms and listed companies in Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Directors hereby submitting the annual report and the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal Business Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set forth in note 21 to the financial statements.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 are
set forth in the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 65 to 67.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Five Years Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 241.

Reserves

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of change in equity and in
note 34 to the financial statements respectively.

Fixed Assets

Particulars of the movements in fixed assets of the Group during the financial
year are set forth in note 15 to the financial statements.

Borrowings

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2012 are set out in notes 28 and 27 to the financial statements.

Convertible Bonds

Particulars of convertible bonds of the Group and the Company as at 31
December 2012 are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

Warrants

Particulars of warrants of the Group and the Company as at 31 December
2012 are set out in notes 29 and 34(c) to the financial statements.
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Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
34(b) to the financial statements.

e

Share Capital

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. LAM Cham, Chairman

Mr. CHANG Yim Yang

Mr. DAI Xiaobing, Co-chairman

Mr. DENG Guoli

Mr. ZHANG Shuguang, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. ZHANG Liwei (Appointed on 1 January 2012),
Chief Financial Officer

Non-executive Director:
Mr. WANG John Peter Ben (Resigned on 31 December 2012)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Professor WONG Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P
Mr. CHAN Kin Sang
Professor XIAO Rong Ge

The service contract of Mr. LAM Cham as executive Director of the Company
was renewed for a fixed term of three years commencing from 19 June
2010. The service contract of Mr. CHANG Yim Yang was renewed for a fixed
term of three years commencing from 19 June 2011. The service contract of
Mr. DAl Xiaobing was renewed for a fixed term of three years commencing
from 16 November 2012. Mr. DENG Guoli was first appointed as executive
Director on 3 March 2011 for a term of three years. Mr. ZHANG Shuguang
was first appointed as executive Director on 6 September 2011 for a term of
three years. Mr. ZHANG Liwei was first appointed as executive Director on 1
January 2012 for a term of three years. Independent non-executive Directors
Professor WONG Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P. and Mr. CHAN Kin Sang
were appointed by the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 19 June 2010. The service contract of Professor XIAO Rong Ge as
independent non-executive Director was renewed for a term of three years
commencing from 21 January 2013.
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There is no specific clause in all the service contracts providing for the
amount of compensation in case of early termination. Each Director was
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meetings in accordance with the Articles. Pursuant to Article 87(1)
of the Articles, Mr. LAM Cham, Mr. CHANG Yim Yang and Professor WONG
Lung Tak, Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P. shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and shall be eligible for re-election.

Other than as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers all of its
independent non-executive Directors independent.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in Shares

As at 31 December 2012, the interests of the Directors and chief executives
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Number of
underlying
shares held
Approximate under equity
Nature of Total percentage derivatives (g)
interest number of of interest Long/ VAR AT
Name of Directors and capacity the Shares BL49#E2E  short position I8HFEZ
Exns EaHERS % R {53 488 Bk ¥a/ %E HFERKEE @
Mr. LAM Cham Corporate (a) 257,196,670 5.91% Long
Mk ~ Al () tE
Personal (a) 7,400,000 0.17% Long 20,000,000
&N (a) IS~
Personal (a) 6,000,000 0.14% Short
&N (a) KRB
Mr. CHANG Yim Yang Corporate (b) 190,282,000 4.37% Long
REBEE ~Al(b) HaE
Personal (b) 116,924,000 2.69% Long 20,000,000
LA (b) e
Mr. DAI Xiaobing Personal (c) 11,000,000 0.25% Long 20,000,000
B/ NESEE EA (c) tE
Personal (c) 10,000,000 0.23% Short
EA () KA
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Personal 10,300,000 0.24% Long 20,000,000
SREE A fEA 5=
Professor WONG Lung Tak, Patrick, Personal (d) 800,000 0.02% Long 3,000,000
BBS, PhD, J.P. EA (d) =)
HRERHKR - HEFIEE -
1E+ X Fa#1t
Mr. CHAN Kin Sang Personal (d) 800,000 0.02% Long 3,000,000
PRIE A S A (d) e
Mr. DENG Guoli Personal - - - 20,000,000
BB S fEA
Professor XIAO Rong Ge Personal (d) - - - 3,000,000
EESEE ¢ TEA (d)
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Approximate

Nature of Total percentage Long/

Name of Senior interest number of of interest short

Management and capacity the Shares BatER position

BREEENS ERHE RS 5 R {3 488 Bk 3/ me

Mr. MEI Ximin Personal 2,000,000 0.05% Long

BERLE EA SO
(@) Aswell Group Limited (“Aswell Group”) is a company beneficially owned as  (a) Aswell Group Limited ([ Aswell Group]) &—F

to approximately 29.4% by Mr. LAM Cham. Accordingly, Mr. LAM Cham is
taken to be interested in the Shares held by Aswell Group.

Apart from his indirect interests through Aswell Group, 7,400,000 Shares are
directly and beneficially owned by Mr. LAM Cham, out of which 6,000,000
Shares have been pledged.

AN EEE R AH29.4% S 2 N A] °
It  MRAZ S A B RR AR Aswell Group FTHE A HO A%
DR RS ©

[ 3% 8 Aswell Group 3% A [ B #E = 01 - A2 5
H BONEE B RTER 7,400,000 K1 - Hep
6,000,000 &5 E1EIR I -

(b) Lead Pride Holdings Limited (“Lead Pride”) is wholly-owned by Mr. CHANG  (b) Lead Pride Holdings Limited ([ Lead Pride]) &
Yim Yang. Accordingly, Mr. CHANG Yim Yang is taken to be interested in the REMBLERZERS - At - REBEAERRE
Shares held by Lead Pride. 7 Lead Pride FTs A Rk 5 P A g o
Apart from his indirect interests through Lead Pride, 116,924,000 Shares are 3538 Lead PridetfAMEERIN - REGILE
directly and beneficially owned by Mr. CHANG Yim Yang. HERERES 116,924,000 &5

(© Among the interests directly and beneficially owned by Mr. Dai Xiaobing,  (c) REBNEAEEEEZRBNRES S -
10,000,000 shares have been pledged. 10,000,000 A& A& 5 B /EHE R o

() Mr. CHAN Kin Sang, Professor XIAO Rong Ge and Professor WONG Lung  (d) FRIEAESLAE - BEREHR REREHESRE L
Tak, Patrick are independent non-executive Directors. IHITES ©

(©) These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of the share  (g) UE AR R B 2 BB S K 2 MER IR e e

options granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the sub-
section entitled “Share Options” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2012, none of the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company nor their associates, had any interest in
long position or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provision of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a written resolution of the then Shareholders passed on 18
September 2004.

Ei==

Share Options

N

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to any executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors of the Group and any advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, joint venture business partners, promoters, service providers to the
Group whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or
will contribute to the Group, subject to and in accordance with all applicable
laws (the “Participants”).

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on 18 September 2004, being the date on which the Share
Option Scheme was adopted.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”), unless the
Company obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.

Under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, the Directors were authorised to grant options to subscribe for up
to 80,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue immediately
following completion of the initial public offering of the Company. Prior to 11
February 2008, the Scheme Mandate Limit has been fully utilised.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 26 May 2011, the Company
obtained the approval from the Shareholders to refresh the limit in respect of
the granting of share options under the Share Option Scheme and all other
share option scheme(s) up to 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of approval of such refreshment by passing of an ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Share Option Scheme, the
maximum number of the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
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Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been accepted by any
Participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an Offer in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the option to which the Offer relates
shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect when the
duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer duly signed
by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the granting thereof is received by the
Company within such period as the Board may determine and specify in the
Offer.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined by the Board
at its absolute discretion and notified by the Board to each Grantee as being
the period during which such option may be exercised and in any event,
such period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of offer (the
“Option Period”). An option shall lapse automatically and not be exercisable
(to the extent not already exercised) on the expiry of the Option Period.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme will
be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on which an offer
is made by the Company to the Grantee (which date must be a business
day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal
value of the Share.

As at the date of issue of this annual report, the number of Shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme was 321,100,000, representing approximately 7.38%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company.
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Details of the share options granted and remained outstanding as at M TNABEZE-T——F+_-_A=+—HERE

N

31 December 2012 under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: FrEIETERD RERITERBRE S -
Number of option shares
BRIESRZRHYE

Outstanding at Outstanding at

1 January 31 December

2012 Granted Lapsed Exercised 2012

Exercise —E-CF during during during —E-CF

Date of grant Price —-A-H the year the year theyear +Z-F=+-H

b zE T AT EhiRd ERKY ERTTE A ATE

HKS
BT

Mr. Lam Cham 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
e EE —2—F+A-+N\A

Mr. Dai Xiaobing 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
Rk “E—5+AZ+)\R

Mr. Chang Yim Yang 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
REREE “E——%5+A-+)N\R

Mr. Deng Guoli 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
BB %L “E——5tAZTN\A

Mr. Zhang Shuguang 28 October 2011 1.51 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000
REXTE “E——5tAZTN\A

Mr. Wang, John Peter Ben 28 October 2011 1.51 3,000,000 - (3,000,000 - -
(Resigned on “T——%+A-t/NH

31 December 2012)
ITHEERE(ZE—CF

TZRA=+—HEHE)
Professor Wong Lung Tak 28 October 2011 1.51 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
Patrick, BBS, PhD, J.P. —E——%+A-+N\H
BEEYK  HEAEE -
gt AT
Mr. Chan Kin Sang 28 October 2011 1.51 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
[tk “E——5tAZTN\A
Professor Xiao Rong Ge 28 October 2011 1.51 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000
EES 6 “E——5tAZTN\A
Other senior management 28 October 2011 1.51 221,100,000 - (9,000,000 - 212,100,000
staff and employees —E——%+R=F/\H
s REBABRESR
Totel &3f 338,100,000 - (12,000,000) - 321,100,000
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The above share options are of an exercise price $1.51 per share with the
exercisable period from 28 October 2013 to 27 October 2017.

The share options granted are recognised in the financial statements. The fair
value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model after taking into accounts the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The contractual life of the option is used as an input
into this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during the financial year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Other than as disclosed in note 40 of the notes to the financial statements,
no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
financial year.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2012, as far as known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had 5% or more interests in the shares or underlying shares in respect of
equity derivatives of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERR

RZB-——_F+_R=+—H BEZHAMN"
BN AIREE S KBRS 336 RFEN
BRMArRs:  RARBESHITHARSIN -
TIHALTRAR RN SBEALTE T ARBK
RBER 5% A EHER - Mz FERBREE
MG RPIEXVERE 2 X370 & 2 R E M A
NAEE

Long position in the Shares R 2HFR

Number of
underlying shares
(unlisted and

Number of  equity derivatives)
Nature of ordinary shares of the Company
interest and of the Company PR ASFHELT Percentage
Name of shareholders capacity A AT BEAGTETR of interest
MR EHE EnUE RS 5 TiERBEE KRB EE EEESH
Aswell Group Corporate (Note 1) 257,196,670 - 5.91%
AR (PFEET)
Raiffeisen Bank International AG Corporate (Note 2) 373,400,000 44,514,285 9.61%
B RS BIRIRITIROD BR A A AR (MEE2)
Munsun Global Mining Investment Corporate (Note 3) 431,576,000 - 9.92%
Fund LP ~al (fEE3)
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Notes:—

1. Aswell Group is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability which is legally and beneficially owned as to approximately
29.4% by Mr. LAM Cham.

2. Raiffeisen Bank International AG (“RBI”), the holder of HK$93,480,000 in face
value warrants which will entitle the warrantholder to subscribe for 44,514,285
new shares in full at the subscription price of HK$2.10 per new share (subject
to adjustments from time to time).

As at 31 December 2012, RBI had a security interest in shares held by 7
individual shareholders and none of them was a controlling shareholder. The
charged shares amounted to 373,400,000 shares. Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, following repayment of the bank loan of US$40 million
by the Company, the charge of all these 373,400,000 shares was released
and RBI ceased to have a security interest in these shares.

3. Munsun Global Mining Investment Fund LP holds the 431,576,000 Shares in
the capacity as an investment manager.

The interests stated above represented long positions. As at 31 December
2012, the substantial shareholders had no short positions recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO.

Compliance of the Model Code for Directors’
Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the financial year ended 31
December 2012, and they have all confirmed their full compliance with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.
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Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 41 for
details.

Competing Business Interests of Directors

None of the Directors and their respective associates had any interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Shares by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries during the financial year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the Cayman
Islands.

Employees

As at 31 December 2012, the Group employed approximately 1,073 (2011:
610) employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. All employees are remunerated
according to their performance, experience and prevailing trade practices.
Both on-the-job and professional training are provided as well. The Group
provides retirement benefits, either in the form of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Exempted ORSO or Mandatory Provident Fund entitlement, to
employees in Hong Kong. A similar scheme is also maintained for employees
in the PRC. The Group has implemented a share option scheme to reward
eligible employees (including executive Directors) according to their individual
performance.
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD B & ¢ BERIERER LD F

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the
Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

- the largest supplier 27%

- five largest suppliers combined 66%

Sales

- the largest customer 34%

- five largest customers combined 75%

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year.

Commitments

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

Pledge of Assets

Details of pledge of assets of the Group are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements.
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Environmental Contingencies

Details of contingencies are set out in note 41(j) to the financial statements.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period are set out in
note 44 to the financial statements.

Auditor

CCIF CPA Limited (“CCIF”) had acted as auditor of the Company for the two
years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011. CCIF retired at the Company’s
last annual general meeting held on 25 May 2012. Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA
Limited (“Crowe Horwath”) has been appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 25 May 2012 until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012 were audited by Crowe Horwath who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Crowe Horwath as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LAM Cham
Chairman

28 March 2013
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD B & ¢ BERIERER LD F

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIKBEEES

N\ Crowe Horwath.

To the Shareholders of China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Precious
Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to 240 which comprise the
consolidated and Company statements of financial position as at 31
December 2012 and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBEN R E S

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2012 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2013

Leung Chun Wa

Practising Certificate Number P0O4963
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD HEHE & EB & RIERER A T
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

GEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 BiE—Z—

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA 7R)

—F TS A=t ALEE

2012 2011
—FE--F —EF——4F
Note $°000 $’000
Bt EE T Tt
Continuing operations HEGEEA
Turnover 2 4 1,626,023 1,119,298
Cost of sales HERA (586,698) (394,711)
Gross profit EFH 1,039,325 724,587
Other revenue Hiblg A 5 20,322 12,670
Other net loss H At B85 5 (21,238) (5,294)
Selling and distribution costs SHE K5 $HRL AR (11,917) (7,350)
Administrative expenses 1THRE M (184,646) (82,388)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary TN B AR ELE 7 EE - (83)
Profit from operations HREE T 841,846 642,142
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2R 6(a) (179,527) (70,701)
Profit before taxation BB g F 6 662,319 571,441
Income tax PSR 7(a) (217,241) (170,533)
Profit for the year from BECEEBZEERH
continuing operations 445,078 400,908
Discontinued operations RIEEETEH
Profit for the year from BIHEETEE 2 FE
discontinued operations Sa ) 8(a) - 16,498
Profit for the year FEERFH 445,078 417,406
Attributable to owners of AATEE A EL
the Company 11 445,078 417,406
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FET5EFE 240 B 2 MGEBARM B #mE 2 —#Hh
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

REEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HE—Z—

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA BEFII7R )

ZETZRA=THIEFE

2012 2011
—T—-=F —E——%F
Note HK cents HK cents
B R b3 1] Al
Earnings per share BiEEA 13
From continuing and BHEEZEERA R
discontinued operations RILEEIEH
Basic HA 12.2 12.5
Diluted e 12.2 12.5
From continuing operations BHEEEIEE
Basic AR 12.2 12.0
Diluted BE 12.2 12.0
From discontinued operations RILEEIEH
Basic AR - 0.5
Diluted e - 0.5
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FET5EE 240 B 2 MIGEB AR Bz 2 —#Hh
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEEHWEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 BiEZ —ZE——F+_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
k- et —F——F
Note $’000 $'000
BaE T Tt
Profit for the year SERERF 445,078 417,406
Other comprehensive income/(loss) F£EHth2H
for the year Wtk / (E518)
Exchange differences on translation of B 15K 71|BR
financial statements: ZIEHZSE -
Exchange difference arising FEMEACELZER
during the year (590) 123,238
Release of exchange reserve T8 A B R ARBR
upon disposal of subsidiaries 2 & S 8(b) - (6,453)
Release of exchange reserve T SHRT B A R ER R
upon deregistration of a subsidiary pd iR 1 - 83
(590) 116,868
Available-for-sale financial asset: AHHEemEE !
Reclassification adjustment relating to /& HE A HE
available-for-sale financial asset TREEENHERAR
disposed of during the year 28,592 -
Decrease in fair value of AL ESREE
available-for-sale financial asset DERD - (11,109)
28,592 (11,109)
28,002 105,759
Total comprehensive income FEZEKREE
for the year (net of tax) (483N BIIE) 473,080 523,165
Attributable to owners of . XANCIE E PN
the Company 473,080 523,165
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FT5EFE 2408 2B AMBRE 2 M -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBARAR

As at 31 December 2012 R =Z——F+_-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
—E—_% —E—F
Note $000 $000
B5E Fixt T
Non-current assets FEREEE
Intangible assets mEE 14 6,343,910 3,939,298
Fixed assets EEEE 15 1,411,670 749,051
Construction in progress EETRE 16 581,700 189,705
Deposits paid for gold mining LD TR AR & IR
and exploration rights Fritiz & 17 433,649 723,354
Available-for-sale financial asset it ESmEE 18 - 118,785
Deposits paid for fixed assets mETEEEM RS 19 54,325 89,541
Other deposits Hipizsg 20 9,781 9,659
8,835,035 5,819,393
Current assets REEE
Inventories R 22 90,195 35,623
Trade and other receivables, FEUS BR 30 & E fh E U 78 -
deposits and prepayments e RFEN IR 23 196,103 169,170
Pledged bank deposits BRI K 24 84,460 39,036
Cash and cash equivalents B4 NIESZEY 25 100,193 86,962
470,951 330,791
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables FEST BRI B A FE{~f 7018 26 472,664 407,438
Tax payable FERTEIE 106,875 130,362
Other borrowings H{m%%ﬁ\ 27 216,370 125,417
Bank loans and overdrafts RITERRBEL 28 206,213 133,233
Convertible bonds ﬂ?ﬁﬁxfﬁigf 30 123,947 =
1,126,069 796,450
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FI5RF 240 B 2 WABAG BwFT 2 —5 10D -

68



CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD HEHE & EB & RIERER A T
ANNUAL REPORT 2012 =& — —F F 3§

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

As at 31 December 2012 R = Z——F+-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
—F——f —T——F
Note $'000 $°'000
B 5E T Tt
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (655,118) (465,659)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREHEE 8,179,917 5,353,734
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other borrowings HiBER 27 838,493 542,996
Bank loans IRITEK 28 456,395 287,783
Derivative financial instruments PTESmIT A 29 156,476 39,309
Convertible bonds g ES 30 - 218,964
Non-current payables JERE R FUR 31 447,756 =
Deferred tax liabilities FEHEAE 33(a) 675,729 706,970
2,574,849 1,796,022
NET ASSETS HEFE 5,605,068 3,657,712
CAPITAL AND RESERVES AR R Ak 34
Share capital A& 2N 543,841 416,461
Reserves s 5,061,227 3,141,251
TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE EATHEBA
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FE{GHEZR4EE 5,605,068 3,557,712

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March  &KEZEEWR_ZT—=F= A+ )\ B2 EWLFA] %

2013. e
Lam Cham Dai Xiaobing
iz BhE
Director Director
EE EF
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FE 752240 B 2 MGEBARM B HmE 2 —2Hh
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RATE NI &

As at 31 December 2012 R =Z——F+_-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
—E—= —E—%F
Note $'000 $000
B 5E T T
Non-current assets FERENEE
Deposit paid for fixed assets METEEEMMIZS 19 3,162 3,162
Investments in subsidiaries, net N B AR 2R E F5E 21 4,642,798 3,393,472
S 1 645,060 3,396,634
‘Currentassets rEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries TEUS BT B /A Bl 7018 23 235,454 1,158
Other receivables, deposits and HibfEUWFIE - i2e K
prepayments TR FIE 23 619 21,253
Pledged bank deposits IR ITIER 24 15,600 15,600
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RIRSZEEY 25 6,906 29,509
S e 258579 67,520
" Current liabilites b 1= 1 - A
Amounts due to subsidiaries TERTHT B A B F I8 26 42,400 40,493
Other payables At R RIE 26 17,160 16,939
Convertible bonds AR E S 30 123,947 -
o e 183,507 57,432
Net current assets mEEE=E 00 75072 10,088
Total assets less current liabilites #@EERASHEE 2000000000 4721032 3,406,722
“Non-current liabilites knwmEs 00
Bank loan IRITER 28 278,121 287,783
Derivative financial instruments PTESRIA 29 156,476 39,309
Convertible bonds Al ES 30 - 218,964
S e 434,597 546,056
NET ASSETS sE®E 0 ao86435 2,860,666
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRA R 34
Share capital R& 7 543,841 416,461
Reserves HE 3,742,594 2,444,205
"TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE asmEAL
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FE{GHELS 4R 4,286,435 2,860,666

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March &EEER T —=F= =+ \ B AW

2013. e
Lam Cham Dai Xiaobing
¥ B/hE
Director Director
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. ET75EFE 240 B2 MFBAMBIRE 2 —3H °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEABHR

For the year ended 31 December 2012 #{ZE - & ——
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

FH-A=+—HILFE

PRC Convertible
statutory Warrants Fair  bond equity
Share Share reserves reserve value reserve Capital  Exchange Retained Total
capital  premium vEiEE R reserve  WiHES reserve reserve profits equity
e R fie e ATERE EiGE X ERfGiE REEH HneE
$'000 $1000 $'000 $1000 $'000 $000 $/000 $000 $/000 $'000
S T S T S v S v S S
(notes
(note 34()  (note 4(d)il)  (hote 34(d)v)  (note 34(c) (note 34()vil) 30 &34(d)vi)  (note 34(d)i))  (note 34(d)(v))
(M0 R
(BrsEsap)  (KsEsai)  (Warsaan)  (HisEsa) (MiEEs4)vi) 34))  (HEEs4m)  (FixE34)i)
At 1 January 2012 R=%§--§-F-8 416,461 2,932,048 40,695 1,260 (28,592) 12,378 13,170 159,028 11,274 3,057,712
Changes in equity for 2012: —E-CEZESE:
Profitfor the year ERRH = = = - - - - - 445,078 445,078
Other comprehensive income FEEMEENE
for the year - - - - 28,592 - - (590) - 28,002
Total comprehensive income ER2ENEER
for the year - - - - 28,592 - - (690) 445,078 473,080
New shares issued for settlement A MERRENZE
of an unsecured payable (note 34(o)))  E{TAfRA (3% 34(o)) 18992 201,008 - - - - - - S 220,000
New shares issued for acquisition SKENBAR
of subsidiaries (note 34(o)i) EAERGHEMUON 108388 1166258 - - - - - - - 12484
Equity-settled share-based payments  ARIERE 2 RAERT = - - - - - 12 - = i
Transaction costs attributable to EIHROEERSHA
33U€ of new shares - (64) - - - - - - - (64)
Redemption of convertible bonds BEmakES - - - - - (5,501) - - = (5,501)
Appropriation of safety production fund B &R 24EES - - 14,680 - - - - - - 14,680
Utilisation of safety production fund HRZLHEES - - (1612 - - - - - - (1612)
At 31 December 2012 R-F-ZF+-F=+-0 54384 4,299,250 53,763 1,250 - 6,877 85,297 158,438 456,352 5,605,068
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FT5EE 240 B 2 MGEBARM B HwE 2 —#Hh
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GRREREEE

For the year ended 31 December 2012 HiEZE —ZE——F+_-_A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

Retained
PRC Convertible profits/
Statutory Warrants Fair  bond equity (accumulated
Share Share reserves reserve value reserve Capital  Exchange losses) Total

capital premium FEEE DR reserve  Tffk{ES reserve reseve  RERR/ equity
kx  RitikE fie e ATEEE  BORE 0 GFHE 0 ERRE  (RHER)  ER4E

$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $1000 $'000 $1000 $/000 $'000
S T S T S T T T S S
(notes
(ote34p)  (ote34il) (ote34(dv)  (ote34(c) (ote 4(civil) 30 & 34(d))  (note 34(i)  (note 34(d)fv)
(WisE30 R

(RsEad)  (HsEoda)  (MzEsady)  (RHEE34()) (B 34(d)mi)) 4 (HrEEA)  (FEE34(d))

At 1 January 2011 R-§--5-B-8 416,448 2,932,025 26,564 1,250 (17,483 12,378 10 42,160 (392,001) 3,021,351
Changes in equity for 2011: —E-EziELes:
Profit for the year EREET - - - - - - - - 417,406 417,406
Other comprehensive income FEEMRENG

for the year - - - - (11,109 - - 116,868 - 105,759
Total comprehensive income ER2ENEER

for the year - - - - (11,109 - - 116,868 447,406 523,165

New shares issued upon exercise REREEAERTIRG

of share options 13 2 - - - - (10) - - 26
Equity-settled share-based payments  JAREAE Z R ER T - - - - - - 13,170 - - 13,170
Release of reserves upon disposal HERBAABEREE

of subsidlaries - - (15,924) - - - - - 15,924 -
Appropriation of statutory surplus reserve B Z T REAEERE - - 30,085 - - - - = 30,055) =
At 31 December 2011 R-F——F+-F=t-H 416461 2,932,048 40,695 1,250 (28,592) 12,378 13,170 159,028 11,274 3,057,712

The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FT5EFE 240 B 2 MFEB AR B wE 2 —3h o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2012 B E - ——F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
-5 —T——fF
Note $’000 $'000
B3 T T
Operating activities G T
Profit before taxation R 258 A A
(including discontinued operations) (BIFERIEEEER) 662,319 587,939
Adjustments for: R -
— Amortisation of intangible assets - BREEHE 6(c) 199,937 145,982
— Depreciation and amortisation of - BlE EEINE L#H
fixed assets 6(c) 68,740 31,676
— Increase in safety production fund - ENTEEEES 13,068 =
- Finance costs — BA RSN 6(a) 179,527 70,701
— Equity-settled share-based payments - R EEE 2 RO ER T 6(b) 72,127 13,170
— Gain on disposal of subsidiaries - HEMB AR Z K= 8(b) - (16,429)
— Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary - AR B AR E A 2 B - 83
— Interest income - FEHKA 5 (505) (646)
— Dividend income from -AHEESREEZRBKA 5
available-for-sale financial asset (11,685) -
— Waiver of other payables — B H M R B - (6,322)
— Gain on disposal of fixed assets - HERTEEZ W 5 (13) (14)
— Gain on disposal of available-for-sale -HEHEESHEE 2R B
financial asset (18,035) -
— Gain on early redemption of - REEL R ES 2 K
convertible bonds 5 (7,496) -
— Fair value loss of derivative financial - PSR I A AT ERE
instruments 5 31,605 1,229
— Loss on early settlement of an - RREEEERENZE
unsecured payable ZEE B 15,236 5,267
Changes in working capital: SIE e
Increase in inventories FEEM (52,178) (27,700)
Increase in trade and other FEUBRFN S HAb FEUGRIE - 12E
receivables, deposits and prepayments N FERF R IBE 0 (44,754) (143,345)
Increase in trade and FERTRR R R E At FE A< SR8
other payables =0 164,088 98,026
Cash generated from operations CETEEAEZIRE 1,271,981 759,617
Tax paid BRI
- PRC income tax paid - B BEATEE (271,837) (107,939
Net cash generated from WEFHEECREBE
operating activities 1,000,144 651,678
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FT5E2FE 240 B 2 BB HwE 2 —3hM o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an (= Eﬁ. G 7 ;ﬁ.%%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2012 B E - ——F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars LA #5511 7R )

2012 2011
—B—CfF —E——%F
Note $°000 $°000
P aE Fix Tt
Investing activities BEEE
Payment for purchase of fixed assets BERTEEMNK (15,915) (22,515)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets & B E & EFTS 50E 32 18
Net cash outflow from acquisitions of UM B AR 2R e n 5
subsidiaries 37 (5,357) -
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries ~ HE&EMB AR ZH &R AFE 8(b) - 14,139
Payment for construction in progress ERTREMNK (1,074,895) (627,685)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BAEPEENRK - (98,573)
Deposits paid for gold mining B TR R R TR
and exploration rights iz 4 (349,809) (670,032)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits paid REEEEM RS
for fixed assets A/ (1) 39,305 (64,316)
Increase in other non-current deposits Hu3EmenigsEm - (2,209)
Net proceeds from disposal of HErtHESmEEY
available-for-sale financial asset FR{S s IEF 58 165,412 -
Interest received B HFE 505 646
Dividend income from available-for-sale AMHEHESBEEZKREWA
financial asset 11,685 -
Net cash used in investing activities REEHRAZIRE T (1,229,037) (1,470,527)
Financing activities R ES
Proceeds from bank and RITREAME TS KIA
other borrowings 1,273,822 1,313,403
Repayment of bank and EERBRITREMER
other borrowings (553,663) (893,999)
Early settlement of an unsecured payable REEEEKTEMNIE - (50,000)
Payment for early redemption of
convertible bonds REBEO A BRESN (100,000) -
Repayment of non-current payable BEIEmEEN A (100,000) -
Transaction cost for new share issued BETHRG 2 RBHRA (64) -
Proceeds from shares issued upon H A TR BT D
exercise of share options 8308 - 26
Increase in pledged bank deposits B HR4R T 28 0 (45,424) (39,036)
Finance costs paid [RENEUR %N (232,477) (49,211)
Net cash generated from RIEESELEZHEFE
financing activities 242,194 781,183
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERREEED
cash equivalents i,/ (RY)iEE 13,301 (37,666)
Cash and cash equivalents N—A—HZBRE&R
at 1 January HeZEEY 86,962 108,546
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ERgsH 8
changes (1,073) 16,082
Cash and cash equivalents R+ZA=+—HZHER
at 31 December REEEY 25 99,190 86,962
The notes on pages 75 to 240 form part of these financial statements. FT5EFE 240 B 2 MiEBARM B @z 2 —2Mh o
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

1. General Information

China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd. (the “Company”)

was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The

address of its registered office and principal place of business are

disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual report. The

Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally

engaged in mining and processing of gold ores and sale of gold
products in The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) during the year.

2. Significant accounting policies

(@)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is
set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting year of the Group and the Company. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from the initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting years reflected in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 455 R R B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated AFS# 3R » B B BFTHEIN)

2.

76

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012 comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis, except available-for-
sale financial asset and derivative financial instruments that are
carried at fair value. Items included in the financial statements of
each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events
and circumstances relevant to the entity. The functional currency
of the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong is Hong Kong
dollars ($) and that of its subsidiaries in the PRC is Renminbi
(“RMB?”). For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has adopted Hong Kong dollars
as its presentation currency.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

2.

(b)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty in the next year are
discussed in note 41.

In preparing the financial statements, the Company’s directors
have considered the future liquidity of the Group. The Group
generated a consolidated net profit attributable to owners
of the Company of $445,078,000 and net cash inflows of
$1,000,144,000 from operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2012, but, as at that date, the Group had net
current liabilities of $655,118,000. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast a doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Nevertheless,
the directors are of the opinion that the Group will be able to
finance its future working capital and financial requirements given
that:

(i) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Company issued convertible bonds with net proceeds
of approximately $993 million and the Group obtained
a loan of RMB400 million (equivalent to approximately
$494 million), of which an aggregate amount of $945
million was used to repay the Group’s bank and other
borrowings and payable. Details are set out in notes
44(p) to (f). The remaining amount of $542 million is used
for general working capital of the Group;

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 455 R R B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated AFS# 3R » B B BFTHEIN)

2.

78

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

(i) Two of the Company’s substantial shareholders have
agreed to provide financial support as is necessary to
enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due;
and

(iii) Based on a cash flow forecast prepared by the Group’s
management for the twelve months ending 31 December
2018, the Group will be able to generate adequate cash
flows from its continuing operations.

Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate
to prepare the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2012 on a going concern basis. The financial
statements have not reflected any effects of adjustments if the
Group was unable to continue to operate as a going concern.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

(b)
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

2.

()

(d)

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note

20)(0)-

(i) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
the control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 455 R R B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated AFS# 3R » B B BFTHEIN)

2.

80

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

i)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
acquisition-date fair values, except that:

- a deferred tax asset or liability arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination and the potential tax effects
of temporary differences and carryforwards of an
acquiree that exist at the acquisition date or arise
as a result of the acquisition are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income
Tax;

- assets or liabilities relating to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date; and

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
HKFRS.
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value
or another measurement basis required by another
standard.

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 455 R R B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated AFS# 3R » B B BFTHEIN)

2.

82

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

(d)

:$t = n-I-IESI

(i

EBAH (50

HARBRELEHHEE
ZREBERIAAREBLHE
EZEERARE  HANRE
HEWEAHRAFEAEY
AFARRBE O P S EN
Bz—8m AARKEZL
FEZEmERERERA
EAEEPRHE  WRER
BT E KRB EEHARE
HE - FFEHMAEESNE
EHHE (B KRB RHRTSE
B—F)RRNEBEREEL

EENBERESZHEMER
EEZHRHE -
IARRE 2R FEELE M

BABRNOTEAEHEH
2 ABURR AR B M
D DB RER ZIAR
B TREERBRB BAEN
e MEBEAENER
PN ”ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ZHEARBRER LS
EIJ%sgsﬁTiaﬂIﬂ : EE=\
Rit2 ] BB ERE
wﬁ(%ﬁ»ﬁ%%%&ﬂ
REE] (WER) RBEZBIR
BHEEHTE  MAEZK
W BERIBm AR o



CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.,
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where such treatment would be appropriate if those
interests were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity before the acquisition date are
reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains
control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that
date.

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 455 R R B R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated AFS# 3R » B B BFTHEIN)

2.

84

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(i) the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of business less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating unit,
or groups of cash-generating units, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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CHINA PRECIOUS METAL RESOURCES HOLDINGS CO., LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 955 k3R B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated A 3R - B B BFTHEIN)

2.

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

(ii)

(iii)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If some or all of the goodwill allocated
to a cash-generating unit was acquired in a business
combination during the current annual period, that unit
shall be tested for impairment before the end of the
current annual period. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of
the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss in the consolidated income
statement. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On the disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year,
any attributable amount of purchased goodwiill is included
in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of
subsidiaries

Where acquisition of a group of assets through
acquisition of subsidiaries does not constitute a business,
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed will
be identified and recognised individually. The cost of
the Group shall be allocated to the individual identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. The accounting policies
in measuring these assets and liabilities subsequent to
the initial recognition are set out in the respective notes.
Such transactions do not give rise to goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase.

2.

(d)
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